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ABSTRACT OF CORONER'S INGUEST
HMINE NO. 2, CHEROREE & PITTSBURGH ¢ & ¥ CO.

FRORTENAC, RARSAS

NOVEMBER ©, 1888,

Ko« killed: 40.
Date of inguest: ¥ov. 11-15, 1888. Coroner G.;.Fisher, Crawford Co

Coroner's verdict: The above named came to their dezth by sn explo-
sion; powder and gas being the main fectors. e algo believe the
extremely dry and dusty condition of the mine contributed to the vio-
lence of said explosion. A

It is the belief of ths jury $hat the said explosion originated in
the fourth norty entry off the east side of shaft Wo. 2 of the Chero-
kes and Pittsburg Coal & Mining Co. at Frontenss, Kansas, snd was
caused by the igniting of powder, the same coming in contact with
other explosive properties.

It is still further the belief of the jury thet it the company
had kept the entries well sprinkled, and psid more attention to the
gs8, the said explosion would not have been so great, therefore, we
the jury consider the company censuresble.

DARIA SENOTT, practical miner, 25 years experience stated that
he wes gequainted with the mine. 4t bottom of sho ft found damaged
timbers, 2 or 3 dead mules and fallenm slate. Fuarther on found 2 or
8 dead men. Shaft is brokef east amd west, then runs north amd south
deKinlay ssked me to take charge, told him I would, Proceeded to
examine morthward, fixing up 28 we went to room Xo. 2, found dead
men, continued on till we came to rooms 3 and 4, found 2 dead men.
In 4th north found 8 dead men. Came back then snd where it broke
off to north 3rd, and conducted air, where we found 8 dead men.
Came out and asked MoKinlay where to investigate next. We took
ventilation to lst north where we expected to fisd two men, did not
find any. Were then relieved and came out.

At 3 pm to00k cherge of 4 men. Found men who relieved il
Went into Ro. 1 om right, found no men. Weny next to west side, found
cars off track, drivers buckets, etc. and door broke down. Proceeded
found one door down, took our ventilation up to north entry with gang
of eight men, then came to fsce of lst north, everything clear, visited
évery room, came back to bottom of sheft. Wext work was west, Ex-
plored frce and side entry. Next was 2nd south, found it in good
condition., There was good ventilation. 21lr was & little hot where
we went in. usfter this was driven out ventilation was good. Found
15 dead besides 3 we passed. Think the explosion originsted in the
third north on the east side. The explosion was sbout 400 feet
from mein shaft. It showed its mark across the main shaft going from
lst north to 4th north, escaping to the fan shs ft.

Hy idea is that the cause was & powder explosion for the following



reasons: This is acknogledged by the best suthorities that powder
smoke ¥ill flash or explode. If the hole 1s drilled too deep or on
the solid, the powder will blow out in a flame , that 1a an explosion
itself and when there are 50 mamy shots fired in thet way the explo-
sion may be 80 large s to extend to all powder that may be around
or in a men's tool box. When 2 mine is dry and dusty it will aggra-
vate the explosion and cause & terrible calamity. In my judgment
that 1s this case. For the followlng ressons: That we exsmined
for gas with & safety lamp snd found none. My ressons for not find-
ing eany ges had thet been the case. Hod we 2 gas jet in this room
we open it, elose the windows and doors and leave it so for several
and retum, we find gas. If there Mad besn gas giving out in this
place after exsmining these rooms we would have found it om our re-
turn. I do not say that this was a gimning shot, slthough it will
cause an explosion. Had the mine been giving gas we could have found
about 5 per cent after the explosion. If an explosion should occur
in & wet mine, it would not be so bad z8 in a dry mine where there
wag dust.

¥y theory is that there were too many shots g fired at the same
time and that the flashings coming in contact with others caused it.
The State lew says that they shall take 5 pounds of powder, but I
do not know that they have obeyed the law. Blackdamp is where there
is no pure sirs No human csn live im it. Then there is gas or
explodable gas where if you earry & light it will explode. I saw
some powder caus or kege, they were blowed to piccas. That is the
first time thet I was ever in the miue. :

Daria Senott

ALEY MITOHELL: I reside in Frontensc. Have worked in Ho. 2
shaft since Janugyy 24, Have been a miner for 3¢ years. I was in
the mine when the explosion occurred, about 5 p.m. 1 was preparing
my shot before coming home. Heard several shots fired. Heard one
a little stronger than ususl. & gentleman passed & remark to me
aboat it.. I answered yes. I work in 3rd north on west side, coming
to entry found door blown off, also another door off, That is the
first I knew of 1t. Going toward main eatry found men retwrning.

I mde an attempt to get out, was drove back by afterdamp, tried it
&t another polnt and was drove back. Tried the main west entry and
got out. Was followed by 8 or 10 men. Coming out found some thing
was wrong. Pound men down, some injured, overcast was blown to riecss.
After a while crossed to other side, Sund more men dissbled. Going
in on main east found stoppings blown out on oross entries, sbout
150 feet from main shaft there was 2 heavy fall. ¥e closed these
breaks off temporarily as we went slong to send air into wain entxyy.
1 only ventured 50 to 756 ft. beyond heavy fall. Tes tired and then
came out. Came up alr shaft and found then trying to arrange to
bring wp disabled men. The mine was well ventilsted. 4 very dry



mine. O'Hara found a,little gss going across horoskook. Tound no
other indications of gas. It never did bum é3cept on one occasion
that wae going across horseback. It was very trifling so do not
toluk it would csuse an explosion. Have no ides of whet caused it.
There was 2 or 3 shots fired until the large explosion came. 1
was conalderabie distance irom the main snaft. 1 worked on the
west slde of the shaft. Shots will average from 1 t0 3 feet. with
Yng exeeption 1 never used over 3 fset of powder in a shot. 4bout
S pounds of powder to that sige shot. We tske nowder down in ¥egs
containing about 24 pounds of powder. ¥ecep it in & box for thet
purgose at & reasonzble distsznce.
Alex. §, ditohell,

POUGLAS JERRKIES: | Worked at coal mining 18 years, tracklayer.
%as in mine on dzy of explosion. ms in the 5w south on west side.
#88 oll through the rooms where the explosion ocourred on the 10th.
Do ot ¥mow in waich room it cocurred. Did not firg and gunning
81005
2 % ® * Ed kS kS

I think the explosion was caused by powder smoke and dust. Do
not think the powder in the czns or kegs caunsed the explosion.
FWoticed some gas. in 3rd north, 4th znd 5th rooms, Ve 4id pot desire
to take any chences akout the ges. Disgovered gas once in ressing
through & horseback. There was gss reported in this room vor 4 or
6 days before explosion took place. Was no room adjoining it.

The employment of inexperienced men would likely couse such £n 2c-

dldent, by not knowing how to use powder. ] do not xnow whether

inexperienced men have been employed or not as I have not peid any

ettention t0 the matter. The mine boss several times stopped men

from firiug shots whesn in his judgment they were not put in right.
Douglas Jemkina.

E. Jo MATTESON. iMiner for 30 years, began first in Indians,
but not steady. ¥as in mins at time of explosion.
¥ ¥ * E] %

My opinion 1s it wegs ocaused by the settling of fine dust in the
rooms where the shot was fired. A4 vast amount of dust is found and
hardly ever gets out of the Toom. When & shot is fired it drives
the fine dust back into the rooms. There has always been gas in the
rooms when the faulte are cut out. I understand in’ the moming &
man goes in and examines. The company hss men who examine the tooms
in morning before men €0 to work. Hever disciversd enough gas to
intimidate & man from working. Hove Enown it to ignite and bumm
& while and then go out. When the room is mun wp 30 or 4C £t the

alr becomes dead. - Hen eould not work safely if there wss a large
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amount of gas in the room. Hen fire bvefore noon and at evening.
Previously worked in Clay County, Inde There was not same amount
of dust in moms in Indiana, cosl is not so hard., * * *x % % %
About s month ago powder begen being issued in kegs of 25 1lbs.

4 meeting was held snd it was voted to ask company to issue powder
in kege and the supt, consented on condition that the men sign a
petition to that effect. I did motsign it until I felt forced
to @ so. All that wemt down in the mine took powder down in
kegs. Have heard that the shot went through, so do not imow

of any men who new of this fact.

RICEARD WILSON. My occupation is mining and farming, hsave
been so for 31 years. Was not in the mine st the time. I guit
the mine on account of daily explosions and said I wouid never go
down agsin. It was between 2 and 3 weeks ago I quit. It was
when the explosion occurred that burned 4 mem. The exzplosion was
csuged by gunmning shots, by men who did not understand mining.
Have seen the fire shoot back from 100 to 200 feet, and have been
singed by it. %as in No. 1, begsn Jan. lst, 1887. Began work
there at firstWas there when 2 men were burned. Saw the room
after the shot wae fired, Pound no gas and never did. That was
caused by an undercharge of powder. It was not strong enough
to move the cosl and shot back. We stepped in beside the pump
and saved ourselves. The dust slways ignites. Heve hqver seen
gas in these mines except when cutting horsebacks or slips. TFhen
you pass through horsebacks the gas comes. Began work in Ho. 2
about Sept. 8. The sir is good a8 in sy mive. I saw the hole
vwhere the 4 men were burned. fThe hole was drilled on the solid.
The coucussion of the shot ignited the dust. Fzsmined 1t after
the shot had been fired. I am satisfied it occurred in the 3rd
south entry. Iy son was found by the keg of powder preparing
& cartridge. Had the fire beem there it would have exploded.

It gad gone into the main east entry where the dust had sccumu-
lated in vast quantities. Thinigf his death was ceused from after-
damp or bruised from coal. My son was in the 10th room in the 3rd
north. . There were daily explosions and I tslked with Row and
told him I would not work. fThe men who worked there were not ex—
perienced. They worked without shoes, shirts or hats. I told
the pit boss [ would not work there any lomger. He said it was
not his fault, he wanted good miners. He said they had brought
six =nd they took them to Ho. 3, snd he said he had all he vanted
of that kind and eaid they are not qualified to mlne here. I
attribute this aceldent to employment of inexperienced miners.
1 sald two weeks sgo last Sunday to Dr. Fischer: "get ready for
an inquest on the most terrible explosion that ever ocourred."
It was caused by these men who were not experienced miners.

The miners always measure thickness of cosl s0 thet powder
gg.gced 1ghw111 shake it. They have machines here for drilling

es. They used no judgment and put in powder not N8 ho
much to put in. When shots couldpnot thgow goal ﬁtkﬁﬁgﬁ ng at



the temping and flew down the room and csused dust to ignite, Have
always looked at these shote and elways found it the same thing.

If the mines are kept well wet these things would not occur. last
spring they used to water well after the Fleming explosion.

Since the 4 men woere burned the mines were watered,
* ¥ &£ x & K % % ¥ K £

ROBERT CRAIG, Gemeral Supt of Pittsburg & Cherokee Coal (o
Hzve been a miner 40 years. The condition of mine was considered
first olass as to ventilation and everything else. Have driven
double entries in sach case. Drove entries on side of main entry
so that we could split the air in four currents.se the men could
have pure sir.

Cur fens are 14 £1 in diameter, capacity of 100,000 cu ft. Did
not ran fan copacity. Generally 25000 or 35000 feet of air was
sufficient. Believe the exploslon was from an oversharze of
powder and dust. 4% & general mile they drill their hole in
golid or teke too wuch of a grip, and the force of the charge
comes back out in & flame that starts the dust and thet starts
the current and the force grows greater. These¢ mines are as
& Zeneral dry. Jxplosions are uot -0 serious where there is =
great deal of moisturs. We expect in the future to allow no
siots to be fired while the men sve in the mines. It has been
customary 8ll over the field for men to do their own firing.
¥ o oxox % % 1 believe the dry dust adds to the foras of the
explosion. Have often ssked if they have seen gos, =nd the
angver kns bean "nov,  Have never found 3t in say ausntity o
that 1t could be detected by the sarecty lamp. 1 think the dust
increased the force of this, caused by an overemarge of powdar,
FRR® e % %he men hers refused to out the coal with s nigk
and sent a committes t0 us to lemand the use 0f soda powder or they

would refase Y0 WOXK.
® % % % ¥ = %

JOSEPH LAVERICH went down with the investigsting rerty
Commenced on mein east, to 4th south, 3rd south, 4th north out
east side. On 4th north between 4th sud 6th rooms pa the entry
found § powier kegs that gave evidence that they had been ex~
ploded; went to 3rd north found everything all right to 7th
room. At foge there was indication of gas. 41l had safety lamps.
Yy opinion is it began here on the 4th north between 4th and 6th
room, as the side of the coal and tdmbers around there show the
fire the most. But my opinion is that it was never exploded by
a blast in the coal as I failed to find any place where an un-
reason:ble shot hed been fired.  Purther, I believe that the
cguse of the explosion really was that the mine is geners ting
enough o explqsive gas to load the air as much ag it san carry
podae¥legpteadbond Teaasenat he Bing there might have been some

caused the start of the fire and



fhe stirring up of the dust agitated by the forse of the explosion.
The rosds were very dry and dusty. In one erosscut thr: one of the
south entries there were 3 miners tool bozes all locked. fThe tool
baxes are z1l outside of the rooms., To the best of my ¥nowledge
there was not nore thean 4 shots fired. To the best of iy helief the
blast traveled both ways. Teve been in 3 different explosions in
big velns. Here owing to the smnllness of the vein the explosion
travels boih wayas. I believe the most furious part ofl the mmpiwxikum
fire traveled south. Bo not think it was csused by lighiing of gas
grom & miners lamp. I believe that it is today genarating enough
ges that if powder is exploded it would fire the gas and csuse another
egplosion. In Westmoreland County, Pa. in JM%. Pleasant slove,
Fayette Go. Pa. soft cosl in Oobmelisvills coks region there were
explosions of firedamp., In each case the fleme traveled against
the air. There was no indication of a shot having been firsd in
Dsn Limb's roonm.



Wile BLLWOOD.  ¥ine boss. Gus in cine sbout 16 or 20 rinutes before
the sxplosion, ¥%Wes in aftermards rgslebing to give eireulation of air
and assist wounded men, etc. Every morning we haye two men go thra
mine and exsmine for gus. Oo8 has been reported in roon 1l on west
Bide. None reported on esst mide in qusntitys There wes =n explosion
in & cortain sensc ocskised by & tizht shot, Do not think it cane out
of the room where it was fired. I considered it parfectly safe, and
a3 puzgled to think where the force could hove genoreted to couse such
& teriffic axslosion. Think it wos coused by & tight siot igmiting
tha dust in the nine. A R

I think thet where 2 shot biows out book it geawrates n gas that
ignites inetantansousiy. 1 me aszstedn tint gag had mothing to do with
the explosion, Imve te9 mon who oxamine the mine 8% about 4 2eme
sagh moraing and report at £330 o ¥ nfaloek, and one men wro obbtends
t0 the olrmlntlon. * = % % =«

®8 have not watered the mine sl mvier es the hot air cones down
the shaft and soadensed in the mine. 4t the tie I spsak 2F we had
to put nen %9 viase sahey alone the track i She entries. The o1&
rooms arg dry. ~ =~ -~ = Top instructed to gorinkie ap often ng it
wan noeded.  Uither one or two davs vefore ihe explosion the aine
»28 sprinkled. - e .

It being & dry syrets the ot air we have here in the slrraay dew
poending inte the miue strikiag the cold aircondensed ond mage &
mofgtove that satiled on the roof amk g it bad, snd setiled all
through the shefl 56 fur sg the not s8id reasned, I sent down &p
many as & save of ashes, dempening thew and apreading the: along the
rogds  In these dry minss we ore sublest o this dust 211 the $ine.

JAMES DRESES  Miner for 45 yesrs. iinde exmmination nfter oxplosion.
TP o® o4 v s 4y we came neer the end or 3vd south eatry found

cars hed heen blown. Ve then weunt %o 3vd north, found indications

of gos in 7th rooms Found shots temped but not fired. From 4th to 6th
room the goal on the side was charred and progs burned, T am of the
firm conviction that the emplesion originsted from the 4th to 6tk room
where 1t is evident the powsder kegs explodeds We found ne blown out
shots. 4ll enots fired on that side were g£00d shots such 43 & GOme
petent minor would put in., Do not think ponder &lone would cause

suth Ra explosion, Think 1t was powier and gas In these rooms,

GEORGE ¥W. FINDLAY I am inspector of mines in this stete, 1
regaeived telegram relative to explonion snd took first tenin to
Pittsburgy drove to Prontenss. I waited for lre Oraig snd he ond 1
&t onoo repaired tonthe shaft. Satisfied myseif (L8t everything
peseible was boing done for those im the mine by men 0f experience.
and ability. * % 7 % * Paturned to 4th south extniining shote,.
There was ¢ or & shots fired neither tne of which is vhnt would be



ealled & tight shot or anm overcharge or an undercharged alot,

¥e came out in the main east, passed over inte the 3rd nmorth snd
found considerable evidence of explosiong especially in oross entry
from 3rd to 4th north. walls were all charred. Faund one shot that
had been fired but it was a g00d shot. Am satisfied that there were
no tight shots fired either in &rd or 4th north entries where I be-
lieve the explosion commengeds  Force of explosion came¢ out from
north blowing stoppings into main entyy, possing amound to head of
mein east, coming down =round on the south, spreading thru rooms in
3rd and 4th south entry. A4Also there wag discovered in 3rd south

what appeared to be the remnants of an exploded keg, - The explosion
seemed to guther forve, foreing itself thru the stoppings to the main
entrance, coming down thru there with sonsidernble force until 1t came
to bottom of shaft and going up thoe shaft, '

To the best of my belief the explosion originated elther in the
¢rosscut between 3rd and 4th north entry by the explosion of » quan-
tity of powder, or in the 4%th north eatry, & distancs of 23 feet from
thls orosscut to where the Senaral disturbsnces oceurred, At this
point I more fully believe the explosion sterted.. ¥y reasoms for it
are: That a2t no other point in the mine cen I find any evidence that
would lead one to belleve an explosion could have originated. How
this ocecurred or by whom it could be started, I am unsble at this time
to say. I do not think thers was sufficlent powdsr there to csuse
sush & terrible disaster. T believe thars vwas other slemsnts con~
nected with it.

4 little more then a year sgo , soon = fter I was apnointed State
Mine Inspector of thix state, ss JOu &re zware, we were hevinz rumors
of littie explosions in different places in our district. I 2% once
returned, if it wss poseidble to get to the bottom of it and find out
the causes. I ¥isited this field every 30 to 80 days for months,
talking not only with pit bosses, supts, but with the miners when I
went through. sbout & yesr ago or bettor, belng convinced from all
evidence that I could obtein that there waa not enough Zos in these
mines to cause an expiosion, vyet they oceurred, I made up my mind,
whether right or wrong, thst the cosl dust had more to do with these
explosions than any other agency. Pelliexing thet, I st that time
recommended to the supts of the dry mines thot a system of gprinkling
be established by which the dust would be 1sid in the wain and cross
entries, Belleving that should this systen be adopted that while a
slight explesion could take place in & room yet when it reached the
mair or cross entries its fire would vanish by reuson of it having
nothing to carry it on. After the Fleming explosion last December
I was thoroughly convitced of this fact and agsin recommendsd to those
in charge that a system of sprinkling the mzin and oross entries gshould
be established, L A

I also in my report recommended very strongly that a law be passged
eompelling the sprinkling of all dry mines.



FOBERT CRAIG {additionel testimony)

i wvant to make 2 corvection in my testimony 28 % the cavse of
the explosion. It was not & tight or bloen out phot. isnited the
mine lset night and ekamined the place where the explosion is supposed
to have originated, and think it was caused by a keg of powder ox-
ploding and firing others. We went to the face 0f the main east entry
and found two shiots at the face resdy to firs. Went inte the 4th
south end found the post on the west side of the entry to the old door
broken in the middle, but still standing &nd blackened., * * * *

In room 10, Wilson's son's room hole here 3 £t 9 in. and one foot in
the 80lid, hole not charged. At free of 3rd north no shots fired.
In second room from fsce found young Wilson's box blowa up and & powder
‘Kegexplc)ﬁe&c * % % % X % K %k : '



INQUEST

Held at Frontenac, Kansas, in Crawford County,
on the 11th-12th-13th-14th and iﬁth days
of Liovember, A. D., 1888, before C. A.

Fisher, Coronor of Crawford County P

on the bodies of the forty men

killed on the 9th day of

November, 1888.

liine Ho. 2 of the Cherokee & Fittsburg Coal & king. Co.

located near Frontenac, Kansas.



TO THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COLLISSIONERS.
Gentlemen:
The inquest upon the dead bodies of the 40 miners kill-
ed in the explosion at shaft Ho. 2 Frontenac, was an extraordinary one.
I take the liberty of asddressing you in regard to the sa&e. The

statute or rather the law conrcerning Coroners Inquests, surely does

o

At

&

not contemplate or anticipate any such remerkeble ifairs. 1 have
studiously and honestly endeavorec to conduct the seid inquest fairly
and legitimetely. In looking over the fees that I have allowed, you
will observe some that the statute does not permit me to allow. I
will just say in extenuetion, that &1l that was doune, had to of ne-
cessity to be done, 2nd was unavoidable. The expert witnesses where
appointed by me to meke & thprough examination of the mine and report:
the same to the jury. The constables Wére-employed by me, to keewn

the thousands of people in check and order, so that the worimen could
proceed with the recovery and identification of the dead bodies. The
guaris were employed by me, to carefully waten and guard the bodies

of the dead men, from robbery aund theft, and to see none were removed
without my suthority. The board of the jury, 1 aliowed, simnly as

en act of justice. These men were necessarilly called away Ifrom

their usual avoca%ions, where the majority, were maxing from 3 to 4
dollars per dey in the mines and elsewhere. I thought it no more than
right to grant to them their dinners each day, &s £ll were several
miles from home, and the usuzsl allowance 0i -;1.00 per day zor thnelr
services, weg but & mere vnittsuce. Hovning that all thet 1 have done in

this metter will mect with your approval,

=

I am Yours HRespectfully,

C. L.Fisher, Coroner.



STATE OF KANSAS, CRAWFORD CO., SS.

An inguest holden at Frontenac, Kansas, in Crawford County, on the
11th-12th-13th-14th and 15th days of November, A. D., 1888, before me
C. A. Fisher, Coroner of said county, on the bodies of: John Lobeck,

%m. A. Foster, Robt. Pritchard, David Tweed, James Wiison, Wm. Ellwood,
John Weisenberg, Joe Kellar, George Weisenberg, Frank larshalinger, Joe
Jolita, Basa Bara, Antonio Bianki, Alex. Sipley, Alex. Sacoll, Herman
Smith, James O‘Hére, Leon Malle, Harry Housen, Edward Edrick, George
Croxton, Frank Roche, Wm. Timbers, Chaé. Tasca, Louis Bertolini, George
Koever, Wm. Miller, Joseph Bertinette, Gustave.Dufrene, Robt. Thompson,
Dan Rendall, Dan Limb, Edward Malle, August Bartier, John Courcors, Louis
Duer, Chas. Rhausberger, John Jones, Frank Price, and Emil Barbier, dead;
by the jurors whose names are hereto subscribed. The said jurors upon
their oaths do say, that the above named came to their death by an explo-
sion; powder and gas being the main factors. We, also, believe the extreme-
ly dry and dusty condition of the mine contributed to the violence of said
explosion.

Tt is the belief of the jury thet said explosion originsted -in the
fourth north entry off the east side of shaft No. 2 of the Cherokee and
Pittsburg Coal and'liining Company at Frontenac, Kansas, and was caused hy
the igniting of powder; the same coming in contact with other exvplosive
properties.

It is still further the belief of the jury thet if the company had
kept the entries well syprinkled, and vaid more attention to the gas, the
said explosion would not have been so great, therefore, we the jury con-

sider the company censuresble.
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In testimony whereof, the said jurors have hereunto set their hends,
he day and year aforesaid
Jeff Billington
John V. Hagie
Thomas Large
Richard Smith
William Dennison
Dave VWadalow

Attest C. A. Fisher, Coroner.

Daria Senott, after being duly sworn testifies as follows: I am a
yractical -miner of 25 years experience. A acguainted with Ho. 2 shaft
»f Cherokee & Pittsburg Cosal & Mining Company. Visited the mine rriday
1ight. UWent down in shaft about 9 o'clock Saturday h.i., was there till
3 P M. it bottom of shaft found damaged timbers, two or three dead mules

and fallen slate. Going further on, found two or three dead men. The

(2]

haft is broke east and west, then runs north and south. kicLinlay asked
ne to take charge, told him I would. ZProceeded to examine northward, fiz-
ing up as we Wenf to room Ko. 2; found dead men, continued on till we
reached rooms 3 snd 4, found two dead men.  In 4th north found 8 dead
men. Came back then and where it broke off to north 3rd, and conducted
the air, where we found 8 men dead. Came out and asked icKinlay where to
investigate next. ile took ventilation to 1lst noérth, where we exvected to
find two mem, did not find any. Were then relieved and came out.

it 3 P. M. took charge of 4 men, Ffound men who had relieved me. went
into No. 1 on right, found no men. went next to west side, found cars off
track, drivers buckets, etc., and door broke down. ZFroceeding found one

door down, took our ventilation up 10 north entry with gang of eight men.



fhen came to face of 1st north, everything clear, visited every room, came
»ack to bottom of shaft. WNext work was west. Explored its face and side
:mntry. Next was End‘south, found it in good condition. liext was 1st
south on west sidé, it was in good comndition. There was good ventilastion.
iir was a little hot where we went in. After this was driven out, ventila-
ion was good. Found fifteen dead besides three we passed. Think the
axpiosion originated in the third north on the east side. The explosion
vas about 400 feet from main shaft. It showed its mark across the main
sheft going from 1st north to 4th north, escaping to the fan shaft.

lly idea is that‘the cause was & powder explosion for the following
reasons: This is acknowledged by the best authorities that powder smoke
#ill flash or explode. If the nole is drilled too deep or on the solid,
the powder will blow out in & flame, that is an explosion itself and when
there .are so many shots fired in that way the explosion may be so large as
to extend to all powder that may be around or in a man's tool box. (iihen
2 mine is dry and dusty it will aggravate the explosion and cause a
terrible calamity. In my judgment that is this case.) For the following
reasons. Thaet we examined for gas with a safety lamp snd found none.
My reasons for not finding ény gas had that been the case. Hed we a gas
jet in this room, we open it, close the windows and doors and leave it so
for several hdurs, énd return, we find gas. If there hed been gas giving
out in this place, after examining fhese rooms, we would have found it on
our return. I do noﬁ say that this was a gunning shot, although that will
cause =2an explosion. Had the mine been giving gas, we could have found about
5 per cent of gas after the explosion. I think the dust would aggravate
but in gy judgment would nol cause an ezpldsion. If an explosion should
occur in s wet mine, it would ﬁot be so bad as in a dry mine where there

was dust.
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My theory is that there were too many shots fired at the same time
nd the flashings coming in contact with others ceaused it. The State
aw says that they shall teke b pounds of powder, but I do not know that
hey have obeyed the law. Black damp is where there is no pure air. lio
umen cen live in it. Then there is gas or explodable gas where if you
arry & light it will explode. I saw Somé powder cans and kegs, they
ere blowed to pieces. That is the first time that I was ever in the mine.

Daria Senott.



Alex. Mitchell, being duly sworn said: I reside in Frontenac.
Have worked in No. 2 shaft since 24th of January. I have been a miner 20
years. I was in this mine on the evening of the 9th when the explosion
occurred,about 5 P. li. I was preparing my shot before coming home. Heard
several shots fired. Heard one a little stronger than usual. A gentleman
pe.ssed & remard about it to me. I answered yes. I work in 3rd north on
west side, coming to entry found door blown off, also another door off.
That is the first I lmew of it. Going towards main entry found men return-
ing., I made attempt to get out, was drove back by afterdamp, tried it at
anoiher voint and was drove back. Tried the main west entry and got out,
was followed by eight or ten men. Coming out found something was wrong.
Found men‘down, séme injured, overcast was blown to pieces. After while
crossed over to other side, found more men disabled. Going in on main east,
found stoppings blown out on cross entries,about 150 feet from main shaft
there was a heavy fall. e closed these breaks off temporarily as we went
along to send air into main entry. I only ventured 50 to 75_féet beyond
heavy fa;l. Was tired agd then came out. Came ﬁp air shaft and found them
trying to arrange to bring up disabled men. The mine was well ventilated.
A very dry mine. O'Hara found a little gas, going across horseback. Foumd
no other indications of gas. It never did burn except on one occasion,
that waé going across horseback. It was very trifling so do not think it
would cause an explosion. Have no idea of what caused it. There was two
or three or four shots fired till the large explosion came. I was consider-
able distance from the main shaft. I worked on the west side of the shaft.
Shovs will average from 1 to 3 feet. With one exception, I never used over
3 feet of powder in a shot. About 3 pounds of powder to that size shot. We
take powder down in kegs, containing about 24 1lbs. of powder. Xeep it in a

box for that purpose at a reasonable distance.
Alex. 8. Mitchell.
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Douglas Jenkins, being duly sworn said: I am track layer at No. 2.
Have worked at coal mining for 18 years. VWas in the mine on the day of
explosion., Was in the 5?& south on west side. Was through all the rooms
where the explosion occurred on the 10th. Do not know who worked there.
Do not know in which room it occurred in. Did not find’gny gunning shots.
ie started out from west side and found doors dowh, fixed doors up. Found
men who came back, said they could not get out. Met John Jenkins, told me
it was no use to try, we could not get out. We waited to see if the air
was coming, but the damp came back to us. Ve got through the damp and fixed
up the overcase, so the rest of the men could come out. Crossed to east,
t0ld the men then to help me close up and send the air to the east. Went in
main east to the fall, went to straight north and brought out Wm. Shafters.
He was living, took him to the shaft and left him. Ve next found three
bodies. Ve took the air with us to the main east face. Found Dan Limb and
Dan Randali laying there. Then I came % on top and then again went dowh.
Tried to get air to 3rd north and 3rd south on east to the men there. Went
in 4th north to face, found seven men in the entry there. Crossed from
4th back to 3rd north, found one men in 4th north, found in his box nearly
a full keg of powder With a piece of paper in the hole. ife looked about
there to seeiwhere thékexplosion occurred, but could not determine where it
occurred. We found,five more men in the 3rd north as we came out. Then
camé to top, stayed one and one-hali or two house and returned. They told
me they had taken fhe air clear through up to the lead-off the west through
the north and south face . Took safety lsmps, found the boy Thompson in
1st crosscut running from lst north td 2nd north. We carried him out, and
went to 2nd north. Found a man alive in going ecross from 1lst to 2nd north
in crosscut. Frank Marschlinger, since dead. Then went into main east

agaein far as 2nd and 3rd north, then I came out. Sunday morning I took two
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men and went along the entire west, found everything all right, found no
gas in the west. Came to top and went back to see if there were two men in
the Srd north. Found in the mule stable, Chas. Rauscheuburger, he was
dead. Then we wxe ﬁent into 4th room, 3rd north, found there was gas in
there, but did not go injand came back and reported. I think the explosion
was caused by powder smoke and dust. Do not think the powder in the cans
or kegs caused the exphosion. Noticed some gas in 3rd north, 4th and 5th
rooms. We did not desire to take any chances about the gas. Discovered
gas once in passing through a horseback. I‘was not working there. Joe,
a German, called me in to see the gas. There was gas reported in this
room for 4 5 or 6 days before the explosion took place. Had we went in the
room congained‘é large quantity. Was in no room adjoining it. The employ-
ment ofirexperienced men in the mine would likely cause such an accident,

by not knowing how to use powder. I do not know Whether inexperienced men
have been emplojed or not, as I have not paid any attention to the matter,
The mine boss has seversal times stopped men from firing shots when in his
judgment they were not put in right.

Douglas Jenkins.



E. J. latteson, being duly sworn said: Have been & miner for 30
years, began first in Indiana, though not steady. Wes in the mine at time
of explosion. On west side, 1lst north, room 18 north back entry. Was %
to + back from the bottdm. Ve came out as soon as possible. Was not allow-
edvfo return again. Was told they had all help wanted. Was not in that
vart of the mine since last winter, when I was 1ookihg for a room. My
opinion is, if was caused by the settling of fine dust in the rooms where
the shot was fifed, a vest amount of dust is found and hardly every gets
out of the room. When a shot is fired it drives the fine dust back into
rooms. There has always been ges in the rooms, when the faults are cut
out. I understand in the morning a man goes in and examines. The company
has men who examine the rooms in morning before men go to work. Never
discoveredkenough gas to intimidete a man from working. Have known it to
ignite and burn s while and then go out. ‘hen the room is run up 30 or 40
feet the air becomes dead. The explosion took place a few minutes after
5 P. M. Men could not work safely if there was a large amount of gas in
the room. Iien fire before noon and at evening. Worked in Glay Goundy,
Indiana for D.W.Black. There was not same amount of dust in rooms in
Indiena, coal is not so hard. Have been here since kiarch 1877. Havé never
of dust enough and gas to cause an explosion in this mine. Explosion occurred
in 2nd north on east side. Time of shooting is 14 minutes pasf 5 o'clock.
About a month ago the powder began being issued; in kegs of 25 1lbs. A meeting
was held and it was voted to ask the company to issue the powder in kegs, and
the superintendent consented on condition that the men sign a petitién to that
effect. I did not sign it until I felt forced to do so. 411 that went down in
- the mine took powder down in kegs. Have heard the shot went through, so do
not know of any men who knew of this fact.

E. J. latteson.
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Richard Wilson, being duly sworn: My occupation is mining and

v f@rming, have been so for 31 years. Wes not in the mine at the time.

I quif the mine on éccount of daily explosions and said I would never go
down agein. It was between two and three weeks ago I quit. It was when
the explosion occurred that burned four men. The explosion was caused

by guﬂning shots, by men who did not understand mining. ‘Have seen the
fire shoot back from 100 to 200 feet, and have been-singed by it. Was

in No. 1, begun Jan lst or thereabouts; 1887. Began work there at the
first. Was there when Durham and Brady were burned. Saw the rzoom

after the shot was fired.l Found no gas and never did. That was caused
by an undercharge of powder. It was not strong enough to move the coal
and shot back.  We stepped in beside the pump and saved ourselves. The
dust always ignites. Have never seen gas in these mines, except when cutt-
ing through horse-backs or slips. When you pass through horse-backs the
ga.s comes. Began Workihg in No. 2 about the 8th of Sept. The air is
good as in any mine, I was mever in. Had a conversation with Elwood, pit
boss. I saw the hole where the 4 men were burned. The hole eas drilled
in the solid. The condussion of the shot ignited the dust. Examined it
after the shot had been fired. I am satisfied that it occurred in the
third south entry. My son was found by the keg of powder preparing a
cartridge. Had the fire been there it would have exploded. It had flown
into the main east entry where the dust had accumulated in vast quantities.
Think his death was caused from after damp or bruised from coal. Ly son
was in 10th room in the 3rd north. There were daily explosions and I
talked with Row and told him I would not work. The men who worked there
were not experienced. They worked without shoes, shirts, or hats. I

t0ld the pit boss I would not work there any longer. He said it was not

his fault, he wanted good miners. He said they brought six and they took
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them to Né. 3, and he said he had 21l he wanted of that kind, and seid
Dick they are not qualified to mine here. I attribute this accident to
unemployement of inexperienced miners. I said two weeks ago last
Sunday to Dr. Fischer, "getbready for an inquest on the most terrible
éxplosion that ever occurred.” It was cuased by these men who were
not experienced miners. The miners always measure thickness of coal so
that powder placed in will shake it. They have machines here for drill-
ing holes, they used no judgment and put in powder, not knowing how much
to use. When shots could not throw coal it blowed out at the tamping,

and flew downithe room and caused dust to ignite. Have always looked

at these shots and slways found it the same thing. I think the company
in the future should employ only practical miners. TIf the mines are kept
well wet these things would notv oceur. Last spring they used to water well
after the Fléming explosion. Since the 4 men were bdburned thé mines were
watered, but not since. The mine must not be permitted to become dry.
Have worked in old country, and Bradford Plunds was Supt. of mines 3 years
in Randolph County, hed an explosion, but no one was badly hurt. It was
caused by a tight shot in a horseback igniting the dust. Do not know how
many men the company_there has employed who are not practical miners; Do
not know whether No; 1 is as dry as No. 2. My boy had been burned three
times before by shots fired by inexperienced men. On one occasion his
eyelashes were burned off. Myself and 4 others quit No. 2 on aeeouht of
inexperienced miners. %hen I heard of the explosion I came to the mine
"all relatives were forbidden to go dovn. When they opened the air shaft
I forced my way in and went down without a lamp. I knew where to go. A
young men gave me a lantern. I went forward and found Young Elwood, found
him laying in car, passed on in to the 1lst north entry, where I met the

men, they forbade me going any further. Met men with safety lamps, passed



on to where the men said wait till they returned. Another man was with
me. I said to him, let us break , we did so and found & man ofer & large
fall in main east entry, living. Met Jim Rae, they said it was safe up
to 3rd north entry. Carried a man back, he said died. Returned to 3rd
north entry, they took hold of me and would not let me go further. I

knew just where my boy lay. Mr. Rae gave me the assurance that he would
go there at earliest opportunity, and the other man the same, and we came
back. Found 5 men there. Timbers all blown out in nain east entry,
bottom the same way. Overcase on west side all blown oﬁt. I think that
saved the lives of the men on the west side. It passed a little beyond.
We found the little Connor boy. He was burned about the face and was
dead. I told Dr. Fisher two weeks ago and the same to the pit boss that
should an explosion occur in the mine thaet I would hoid the company response
ible for the loss of my son and the lives of all the men, should an explo-
sion’occur. I saw the shot that Alex. Nevius, & Frenchman, fired in No. 1
over a year ago, he was discharged by the pit boss and taken by the

Supt. Williams and put to work in No. 2.

Richard Wilsone.



H. S. Keius, being duly sworn said: I was standing on the east
side greasing cars when the explosion haprened. When the explosion want
off I thought it was the first shot. It did not make a big report. I
felt the wind and ducked down. Some fellow came along and called out:
"Boys come up the shaft, you will all die here.f We went up the shaft.
Thet is all that I Xpow. Do not know thet there was any other shot fired.
Had it been 20 minutes later, it would have caused an explosion on both
sides. As we came to the shaft I saw men laying there badly hurt. I
think there was ten or 15 men, maybe 20 on the bottom. I lost everything.
The wind wes overhead. Heard the wind take the mules and cars along. Was
on the right side close up among the % entries. One man came up ahead
of me, he encouraged me to come up the shaft. I knew nothing till I came
to my senses. Xnew of 2 good many inexperienced me on the east side
before I went away. That was about two or three weeks ago. Then I
returned to the mine again. The Italians were not good miners and did
not know how to put in a shot properiy énd had to get men to put them
in for them. They were not there the day of the explosion. There was
an Italian there whé gave me $2.00 to leave my room. Told thé boys it was
dangerous to be among them. Have worked at No. 2 six months. I think
that the having of inexperienced menin the mine was the cause of the

accident.

W. S. Keius.
Per C. W. Moore,

iitness. Jeff Billington.
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Robert Craig, being duly sw.rn said: My occupation is that of Gen.
Supt. of Pittsburg & Cherokee Coal Co. Have been a miner 40 years. Have
been to bottom of shaft since explosion. The condition of the mine con-
sidered first cless as to ventilation and everything else. Have driven
double entries in each case. Have drqvé entry on side of main entry so
that we could split the air in four currents, so0 that the men could have
pure air. The men who lay toward the last of each current do not get the
smoke and bad air as if thej worked in onme or two currents. Our fans are
14 feet in diameter, capacity of 100,200 cu. ft. Did not run fan capacity
generally 25000 or 35000 feet of air which was sufficient. Believe the
explosion to be from an overcharge of powder and dust. As a general rule
they drill their hole in solid or take’too much of a grip, and the force
of‘the charge comes baék out in a flame that starts the dust and that
starts the current and the force grows greater. These mine®s are as a gen-
eral dry. Explosions are not so serious where there is a great deal of
moisture. ‘We expect in the future to allow no shots to be fired while
the men are in the mines. It has been customary all over the field for men
to do their own firing. If the shot had not too much to do the flame would
not come back out. Am not certain that we have employed inéxperienced
men,lately we have e¢mployed many men. If the shots are properly put in
and prepared the result would not be bad. Some times men overdo their
shots, but they know more about these things than a man who does not.

Lien accustomed to mining can tell experienced ‘or inexperienced men. If s
man could use all the fuse used in mines they might deceive 2 men. It has
been decided not to hire an inexperienced man, and if they will to place
them with good men. Think it would be best not to give & man & room if

he is green, but vplace him with & man who understands his business. I
believe the dry dust adds to the force of the explosion. Have often asked

if they have seen gas, and the answer has been, "No." ©Never have found it



in any quantity, so that it could be detected by a safety lamp. I think
the dust increased the force of this, caused by an overcharge‘of powder.

I think sprinkling would ke2p decrease the danger from these shots. If
an entry is traveled much, there is more dust than in a room where there
is only one man. Rooms apandoned are generally4elosed up and the track
taken out. Was in the mine week before last before the explosion, and
was not aware there was large quantity. They have been sprinkling, but
do not know that it was done regularly. I knew nothing of the employment
of inexperienced men. Some time ago we thought it would be advisable to
employ & men to go around and examine the faces and advise the men to

use their picks more, because men come from other fields who have not s
knowledge of blasting. I do not know whether there was men employed who
are not experienced. I understand when I was here before that there was
certain men in No. 2 who were to be moved to No. 3. I do nbt know the
cause of the explosion. I heard of the four men being burned sometime ago.
I never knew or the company sending inexperienced men here. I do nbt
remember of the pit poss telling me why hé was going to éend these men

to Ko. 3. He said hé did not wént S0 many men wno could not speak'English;
The men here refused to cut the coal with their picks and sent a committee
to us to demand the uée of soda powder or they would refuse to work. At

a mass meeting of the miners of Frontenac a few weeks since and passed

a fesolution condemning the use of handling this powder in 5 1lb. cans and
requesting us to abandon that system of handling the powder, and they
considered dangefous, more so than taking it down in kegs. I said to lr.
Lawton, if you get all the men to sign this series of resolutions and
petition requesting us toabolish this system we would abolish that system
and permit them to teke it down in kegs. I did not kmow if all the men

were preseunt, so I wanted this petition signed by the men so that we would
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aaow if 211 the men desired us to issue powder in kegs. YWe admit this

vas an evasion or violation of the State Léw. A meeting of the companies
nés held to see if means could not be devised to lessen such accidents, $e9-
15 that of Fleming and Rich Hill. We have endeavored to have the men use
their picks and not depend on powder to do their cutting. The men objected
) teking the powder in small quantities. One objection was that it Was

10t enough to last all day, and they deemed it more dangerous than taking

it in bulk. I do not know what pfoportion of the miners signed this peti-
tion, I believe where the men take the precaution 6f keeping_this powder

in boxes, and by taking proper cere, it is just as safe as in any other way,
lthough we admit it is not according to law. I believe the mine inépector
thinks of having the law changed permitting the taking down of kegs., Ve
1ave a man who keeps account of the men who go down on the cage in the
gorning, ans some may go down the air shaft. There was 164 men who Went
iown on the cage that mdrning. We take no register of the men who come

ut. There was a notice put up requesting all men who came out and register
So that we could der$ termine the number of men entombed and living. The
swo men round yesterday completes the list of missing.

Robert Craig.



Partick Higgins, being duly sworn says: I am a coal miner. Have
vorked 31 years as a miner, began in West Virginia. Was in 1lst south on
vest side, back entry. Wes not in east side since explosion. Caused by
in accumilation of gas, dust and powder. Do not think gas caused it,
out think gas powder and dust was the cause. Thére wa.s gas, but not
sufficient to endanger lives. There was some inexperienced men there.
lave only been in shaft 6 weeks. It was the opinion of the men that
nany of those on the east side were that class of men, inexperienced.
lave had men complaining of the class of men, but there were few, if any,
n the west side. Heard the men speak of future explosions a2t times the
four men were burned. Two men from our side went in there and said they
1lid not kmow how to dig that kind of coal. Have had them come and ask
infomation of me, had to pdace their shots. 'Pete Smilley told me he

fuit on account of these men.

Patrick Higgins.
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Robert Bennie, being duly sworn says: 1 am a miner of 32 years
experience. Never was in No. 2 until the morning after the explosion.
I never was in the 1eﬁgths of the rooms on the east side. I wgs sta~
tioned at 3rd north on east side---to prevent men going too far forward.

Robert Beunnie.

Robert Boyd, being duly sworn said: Was in No. 2 after the explo-
sion, went in about 7 o'clock affer the explosion. Wes in 3rd north
entry. Am employed in No. 1 shaft. Did not look for cause of explo-
sion, was looking for bodies. There was two entries we noticed, 4th
north and 4th south. Think it was caused by & gunning shot. It was a
hole drilled in the solid, which raised the dust and caused it to
ignite. I believe that accumulations of dust and some loose powder
about the tracks caused the igniting of the dust. Have not discovered
much gas. I do not know that the concussion of a shot will quicken the
gas up. The air cafries the ges away. There was gas, but not enough
to cause the damage. Have noticed the old rooms are closed up so that
nhad there been gas there it would have blown the stoppage out. These
0ld rooms are on the side where the explosion occurred.

Robert Boyde.

Wi%liam,young, being duly sworn says: I am & miner and work in No.
1 Wea;.heggg in No. 2 $ill night of the explosion, was then from 8 P.i.
to 3 i.k. VWas there to look eftsr the wounded and dead. Have not examined
the rooms and can not give an ovinion as 10 the cause of the explosion.

I will give no opinion unless I could examine the rooms.

William Young.



~18e

Wm; Elwood, being duly sworn said: I am mine boss at No. 2 shaft.
Was in mine about 15 or 20 minutes before the explosion. ¥Was in afterwards
assisting to give circulation of ailr, and assist wounded men. Also assist-
ing to get the hoistings ready so that we Qould bring up the wounded.
Bvery morning we have two men who go through the mine and exemine for gas.
Gas has been reported in room 11 on west side. None has been reported on
the east side, but not in quahtity. There was an explosion in a certain
sense caused by @ tight shot. Do not think it came out of the room where
it was fired. I counsidered it perfectly sefe, and am puzzied to.think
wnere the force could have generated‘to cause such & terific explosion.
Think it was caused by a tight shot igniting the dust in the mine. Some
time ago e young man named Ray was burned by a tight shot on the hand.
zost of the miners who came slong, I asked them where they had worked to
see if they knew anything about blasting coal, and if the man did not seem
to know, 1 had a man explain to him how to put in his shot. I made this a
practice. Have good practical miners ﬁhﬂ fire tight shots, and I have a
man who goes the rounds every day and explains to them how to properly
place their shots. I think that where é snhot blows out back it generates
a gas that ignites instantaneously. I am certain that gas had nothing to
do with the explosion. Have two men who examine the mine at about 4 A.k.
each morning, anfl report at 6:30 to 7 o'clock, and one man who attends to
the circulation. Six men, Italiesns, came there and placed them all together.
Saw they were not &ll good men and sent all of them over to ¥o. 3. One of
them came back and I placed him on the east side. The French are good
miners. I was on top at time of explosion. Think they begen firing that
night before time. lir. Craig said to me, to never mind the cost, but
prevent such accidents as that of Fleming. The company has done all in

its power to prevent such occurrences. Charles Tasca was the man I had



hired %o instruct these Italians and look after these men and see if they
knew how to dig coal. I use a small stick for sounding the roof about
three feet long, and I used it in measuring that hole put in what I thought
was 14 inches, where the shot had been fired that burned the men. I think
it best to water the mines, as that contibutes to lessen the danger. We
have not watered the mines &1l summer as the hot air comes down the shaft
and condensed in the mine. At the time I speak of we had to put men to
place ashes along the track in the entries. The old rooms are dry. There
was an Italian, ofe of the six I removed who came back, in the mine that
day. Do not know if there was any inexperienced men. Was instructed to
sprinkle as often as it was needed. Either ome or two days before the
explosion the mine was sprinkled. About six weeks ago there were three
men in that entry, 3rd north, who came out and left their tools in. That

is a common occurrence.

William Ellwood.
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James Braithwaite, being duly sworn said: Am not & miner. Am engineer
at No. 2 shaft., I am made an examination of the slides and buntons in the
shaft and found them broken. At 5 o'clock I heard a report and saw the
Smoke coming out the shaft. Went to the fan house to see if the fan
was injured, but it was safe and had it started faster to clear out the
Smoke. George Ray was the first man to come up the main shaft. We use
T rails. Saw the flame come out at least 60 feet high up to the top of
the pulley wheels of the shaft. I run straight across to the shaft.

There was a smell of powder all over the place. Found the'fan running

when I came to examine it.

James Braithwaite.,
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C: F. Lawton, being duly sworn said: Have been in the mines frequent-
1y examining them. Went east on the Zlst of last month and just returned
last night. It has been my custom to questibn men applying for work, and
if they did not satisfy me, 1 refused them. There was 6 Italians came ‘here
from Michigan and I talked to them through another Italian. Think I gave
them a note to Mr. Ellwood to give them work. If they are not miners in-
structions are given ndt to retain them. Those six.men all cleaimed they
were coal miners. There were seven Sweedes came from Peﬁsylv&nia the same
day, with the exception of two, they were miners. They asked to be given
work together so they could be looked after by those who kmnew how to mine.
In case of green hands, if they are acquainted with préctieal men, I have
offered to place them with their friends. Have been very careful in employ-
ing men. Do not give ordefs for tools to »it boss unless they are practical
men. kr. Ellwood informed me he had employed a man to instruct these
Itelians and I approved of it. I employed for this purpose im. McElrath
No. 1 and Thos Row Ko. 2. Tasca was the only man expecially employed to
instruct the Italians. The pit boss was instructed to sprinkle the mines
whenever ncesssary. It wes not neceséary to sprinkle during the summer. Do
not think the dust had accumuiated mofe than usual. %Was not there for 10
days previous tco the explosion. Cannot state exactly how many kegs of
powder goes down d2ily, probably 40 kegs. If we had 160 men at work there
would probably be 80 kegs of powder in the mire during the day. I under-
stand the other companies issue kegs of powder to their men. e reqﬁire
every man to have a closed box in which to keep his powder. A man had to
take powder by the keg from the company after they had made this request
Tor it.

¢. B, Lawton.
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Robert Boyd recallede.

I found powder in a2ll the boxes I examined after the explosion. Some
of the kegs in the boxes ke were nearly full. Saw boxes that were broken
to pieces, the powder beside them unexploded. There was lots of empty kegs.
liostly all the boxes you will find powder in them unexploded. Was not on
the west side. Was on the east side and north entry. It seemed to0 me
although I could not say where it took place, but thought it was in the 4th
north on the 4th south. Saw Ti rails that were twisted up.

Robert Boyd.

Alexander Young, being duly sworn. Have been a coal miner 28 years.
em fire boss at Ko. 1. Went down with Dr. Hillis in No. 2 about 6 o'clock.
Went as far as it was safe with a lanter. We could not go farther until
the stoppings were fixed. There probably might have been expiosive gas.

Ve woﬁld find after damp in the mine after the explosion. The greatest
éxplosive point is 97-10 to 1 of fire damp. IFire damp is composed $e of
two parts hydrogen and carvon. In five feet or Iire damp 4 parts hydrogen
and 1 part carbon. I believe the amount of powder in thet hole along with
the dust caused that explosion. The first thing I saw was & boy in a car
naked, he wad dead. The next we saw was Wm. Elwood, the doctor examined
his wound and showed us his brain. Saw the stoppings were all down. Had
it been a gas explosion it would have been more severe. I claim it was
the result of & tight shot, coming out with great force. There hadte been
tight shots fired but not with such serious results. The mine had not the
appearance of having peen sprinkled lately. There is & necessity for water -
ing the roasds all the time. J.M. Craig gave orders to Lir. Jenkins to
sprinkle the roads, but it has not been done sufficiently.

Alex. Young.
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Wm. Ellwood recalled. It was something new i1n my experience. 1t
being a dry strete the hot air we have here in the summer descending into
the mine striking the coald air condensed and made a moisture that settled
on the roof making it bad, and settled all through the shaft as far as the
hot air reached. I sent down as many as 20 cars of ashes, dampening them
and spreading them along the road. In these dry mines we are subject to
this dust all the time. I am not aware that the dust accumulated in a very
short time. As the temperature changes in proportion below it will om
top. We termed moisture "sweating.™ In démp mines the powder smoke is
not of so dengerous & character. Powder smoke will cause a sweat. Can
call from em memory how many rooms we have in thet mine. All rooms in
the entry are numbered. Can furnish from the engineers report the number
of rooms, those vacant and occupied. Our system is to make the day of
the month on every man's room. 3But we had trouble on account of moisture.
We had the men mark.it on ties, shovels etd, So it would be more clear.
Before we 1let any men down in the mine we wait for the report of the fire
boss that he has been in every room in the mine. Where the air does not
reach the powder smoke it becomes more dry and dead and condenses. Jenkins
had some sprinkling done in the main entry as far as lst north. Do not
remember that he had done it on the east side. Within the last month I can
not say how meny heavy shots we had, but think we had three on the east
side. Cannot tell exactly the time of the Matthews shot. This is the fir st
time that I have heard of Jas. Wieson being burned. I heard that he lost
the end of a finger. I heard of Frank Leigh being buiﬁzgé, but he never
made any complaints to me. I do not remember of the doors being blown
open on any particular occasion. If we heard of a tight shot we went down
to examine as to its cause and the nember of men, if any, who were burned.

Have two fire bosses, am satisfied they were competent. There names are
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ohn Prisk and Thomes Potts. We have & place fixed purposely for watering
he mines. I cannot state whether the esst siderwas watered this month.
hink it was 9 or iO days ago. Think it was about the 20th if Oect. had
,ot used it before that and some timethe roads are damp. We watered the
oads wherever it is needed, its the 3rd south and 3rd north. It was not
‘hat we call dry and dusty. The mine was continually makirg working from
hat time to the explosion. Do not think we have used the water takk since
he 26 men were burned, but run the water in barrels.

Wm. Ellwood.
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Joseph lLaverich, being duiy sworn said: Went down yesterday noon as
a member of the emamining party. Commenced on main east, examined face of
main east entry. Found two shots there, botn holes tamped ready for blast-
ing. e Iound a keg of vpowder there all right, no fire had been there.
Went from there to 4th south. Examined every hole in 4th south and found
nothing ther? to lead us to think the explosion occurred there, except three
empty cars, zound two of‘them badly broken up. ¥We found 2 kegs of powder
in 4th north, one keg was about 16 or 12 feet from where the box had been,
the powder all right. Found nothing in the 4th south except cans lying
there. %We then went to 3rg south, in the 3rd south far as we traveled
through, 3 shots that had been fired. Some might think 2, but they were
goodbshots, such as an experienced men would put in, as the coal blasted
out gave evidence. Ve examined every working place in there and several
that had been worked to see if we could Ffind any indication of the cause of
the explosion, but failed to find any. Then commenced in 4th north out the
east side. ﬁenﬁ to face of that entry and commenced to examine each wWOork-
ing place. The first keg off powder we found was where they told us that
Jas. Wilson was found. Everytning there was in good order, as regards to
numbers that have been on the rooms, but they were not visible. On the 4th
north between 4th and 6th rooms on the entry, as the man who ceounted the
rooms said we found 5 powder kegs, that gave evidence that they had been
exploded, from the way they were bursted out. We left there, searched each
and every place in 3rd north, and found every room in good order until we
reached the 7th room. Vent to face of that room end there wes indications
of gas. It showed on the lamps and I think that so many of us going in
broke it as any practical miner knows it will break. All of us had safety
lamps. My opinion is, that it began in this place, on the 4th north be-

tween the 4th and 6th room, as the side of the coal and the timbers around
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there shows the fire the most. Bu* my opinion is that it was never exploded
by a blast in the coal, as I failed to find any place where an unreasonable
shot had been fired. Further, I believe that the cause of the explosion
really was that the mine is generating enough of explosibve gas to load, the
air as much a&s it can carry and owing to the dyyness of the mine there
might have been some powder exploded by some one that caused the start of
the fire and the stirring up of the dust agitated the force of the explo-
sion. The roads were very dry and dusty. In one crosscut through one of
the south entries there were three miner's tool boxes all locked. The

tool boxes are all outside of the rooms. To the best of my knowledge there
was not more than four shots fired. To the best of my belief the blast
traveled both ways. Have been in 3 different explosions in big veins. Here
owing to the smellness of the vein the explosion travels both ways. I
believe‘the most furious part of the fire traveled south. Do not think it
was caused by lighting of gas from & miners lamvp. I believe that it is

today generating suificient gas that if powder is exploded it would fire

, _ noeimard '
the gas and cause another explosion. In West Numeland County, Pa, in

/ﬁlwgcéé( , Coyrrebated il
liount Pleasant slope, Laflyette County, Pa., soft coal, in Connillisville

coke region. There were exnlosions of fire damp. In each case the flame
traveled against the air. There was no indication of a shot having been
fired in Dan Limb's room.

Josepn Laverick.



James Breses, being duly sworn said: Have been a miner 45 years. 1In
first start we took east side, went far in. Found two shots there not fired,
both well tamped. ¥We took the 3rd south and then proceeded in the 4th south.
As we went along we found shot firered, no indication of any explosion
there. We found miners tool boxes locked and a1l right. We also found
kegs of powder loose, not in boxes. We came through the corsscuts into
3rd south, came down south, examined it, came along and found shots tamped
but not fired. Found also there was boxes locked and all right. As we
came nearvthe end of that entry to the east we found cars that had been
blown. e could not tell how many times over. That is all on that
side. W¥e were told that 1lst and 2nd south were not working &t all at time
of explosion. We went north to the 3rd north first, examined as we went
along 3rd north in No. 7 room, 3rd north we found indications oi gas. Pro-~
ceeded on we did not find any more gas 2s plain as we 4id in 7tn room, as
we went along in various we rooms we found shoté tamped, not fired. One
part tamped with drilling needle in hole. In another one we found the machine
set in the act of drilling. On that entry no shots fired. Proceeded through
crosscut into 4th north. We came to room 4, there we found a2 number of
miners broken tool poxes and four of the kin kegs that had been opened out
and & little from there one more box broken to piedes. The nowder keg
opened out. All the way from 4th room as far as 6th room the coal on
the side was charred, the props buruned. We searched all the remeining
rooms to the face of the entry and found the shots tamped but none fired.

The mine is dry. I am of the firm»eonviction that it first originated

from the 4th to 6th room, whem it is evident the powder kegs were exploded.
W/e found no blown out shots. All shots fired on that side were good shots
such as a competent miner would put in. Do not think the powder alone would

cause such an explosion, but think it was the vowder and gas in those rooms.
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[t was powder gas and dust that caused this explosion. It appears as
vhough the miners boxes from 4th to 6th room were placed all together. It
vould be #ifficult to determine which way the force of this explosione
traveled. I think that the explosion started from where the powder kegs
vere exploded. It is my firm opinion that fhe first blast of powder that
lifted the track up and broke open the box was the first of the explosion.
[ think that a man would be burned 30 feet from where the explosion took
olace. Iy conviction is that the mine is giving off gas. If a mine is
z3iving out gas the air will carry it along. Have worked where mines gave
>out gas in quantities. Ve had safety 1ampS’With us. When you first enter
3 room or entry we detect gas, we take our lamp and pull down the wick and
raised our lamps and saw the gas draw on the lamps and it did not explode.
flame is of a blue brown blaze. There is a certain pdint at which gas and
air mixed may explode, but cannot state positively, at what point it will
sXxplode. A gas explosiOn in that mine would have been of fearful force.
das satisfied we found ges in that room, about 5 inches of it and we went
out.

James Brese,
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Thomas Tonses, being duly sworn says: Entered the mine about 1:30
P. M. Went away from bottom to main east entry. Found two shots that had
not been fired. Went into back entry on east side. Went to 4th south first
thing, called our attention was a box with powder in it. Went from there
and found another box but it was broke up,‘some of the committee thought
that the powder in it had exploded, but I thought not. We sat down to
discuss it, I sat down and on putting out my hand on the keg of vowder
beionging to the box and it was about 3 parts full, so we decided there
had been no explosion there. Next thing we saw was several pit cars turned
over and badly broken. Left there and went into 4th entry and we thought
there had been two‘shots fired there. ILeft there and went into 3rd south
entry. Looked around there, saw nothing to attract our attention. I think
we entered every room about there end found nothing wrong. Going out
into main‘east, we started from there into 4th north. The iirst thing we
saw there was & keg of powder standing there, belibnging, I think to the
boy Jas. Wilson, nothing wrong there. Going further up we Tound 3 o# 4
boxes all broken and the powder kegs all broke lying about there. Examined
the holes there but did not find that any shots haed been fired there.
Jhen we got near the head of the entry found 5ior 4 boxes locked. Tient to
the face or the entry and looked around there. There was a shot in the
entry ready to fire. Came down that entry till we came to the break-through
8% we came through the canvess door we found another broken box and a keg
of powder flatened out. Went further to face of 3rd north, found one shot
ready ifor firing and a shothole drilled but the shot not tamped. Left there
and examined the room turning, found nothing uptil we reach No. 7 room.
There weas a little gas in this room,called the mine inspector and when he
came the gas had broken and passed away, s$o that it mewed woula not show.
The mine inspector was sitting a7 the entry to the room, he did not go with
us. The gas showed on the lamp. The gas showed a blue light on top of

the lamplight. %o the best of my judgment the heavier part of the explosion
was from the 4th to 6th room on 4th north entry. Tom. Tones.



Robert Bennine, recalled. Was in No. 2 mine yestereday. We proceeded

‘rom the bottom of shaft to main east entry. Found two shots, following shots,
hey had not been fired. From there we weni to 3rd south, struck off to enter
4th south. Examined about there, but I did not examine all the places there
because glass in my lamp was broke. Prom 4th south entered 3rd south, two
shots had been fired there. They were two good shots. In the 3rd south there
7as cars, one of them was turned up on its end, the cozl all out of it. 1In
;he rest of these rooms I did not go into. It was agreed that if anything wes
Jound the rest of us would be called up. Proceeded then to the 3rd north which
¥ into the 4th north entry. Things appeared all right ur to about the 4th
«nd 6th rooms. There we found boxes broke up and powder kegs flattened
straight out, and at the side of one of these Eegs there was a rail torn up,
srojecting up about 18 inches, projecting up on the solid side. Examined that
throuhly, examined the faces, found shots prepsred to be fired. Found a miners
lemp and cap in one of these rooms. After we came out of that we turned back
into the third found & box with everything about smashed. After that we
exarined each room found things all right. Till we came to 7th room. Guess
there was four men came in that room. One of the men put up his lamp and it
drew a little gas. I said, hold. It did not form as pure gas, but as a
mixture. e came out &nd retreated. We debated on the subject whether there
was gas there or not. To meke sure of it, two men went back and examined again.
They gave thneir opinion there was no gas there, it did not show up on the lamp.
Am not certain who the men went there. It was not more than 7 or 8 minutes
before they went back the second time. Then we went to the next room, examin-
ed it and found no gas. I had a Davy Lamp then. we then came out to the
bottom. I cannot ssy where the exnlosion originated. where the powder kegs
was busted it indicated the iire had been there. The fire was hotter there

than at the shaft bottom. The mine is dry and dusty.
' Robert Bennie.
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Wm. McKinley, being duly sworu said: Am pit boss at No. 3. uas in lio.

, yesterday with the examining committee. was in room No. 7 on 3rd north. I
saw no gas. Wm. Briscoe and Robert Bennie and two other men, I know by sight
yut do not know there names. We were sbout 4 feet apart near the face of tle
~oom. Believe the lamp he had was broken. Brisco and Laverich had not made
neé exgmination pbefore I came in. Held up my lemp but it did not show gas.
Saw their lamps, did not see they showed gas. Called Mr. Finley up and they
failed to show the gas. Iaverick, Brisco and myself went into the4foom to-
gether. When we went in the second time they‘claimed wé had eaden up the
gas. There was no gas to speak of. Have been with the company since they
opened'up here. There are powder kegs there all flattened and smashed and
boxes blown to pieces. That is in the 4th north.’ Think the explosion occurred
in the 4th north where the powder cans vere flzttened out snd boxes broken. It
is my opinion that the explosion was caused by carelessness of some man pre-
paring his cartridge by & spark from his pive or from hisllamp ignitihg the
powder. There had been 1o shots fired in that place. In the south, the men
had evidently prepared to quit work, having fired their shots, and locked
up their powder in their opoxes. The explosion came from the north in my
judgment. A1l the stoppings and doors in rvhat entry are all blown toward tle
south. If my memory serves me right ithere was six or 7 persons working there
in thaet entry end they were in different places. I cannot say thet any podies

were found right there by those kegs. I do not believe there was more than
four shots fired and they were in the 4th somth entry. They were good shots.

im. kcKinley.
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John Funk, being duly swo.n said: Am fire boss in Ho. 2. Have been so
since Sept. 13th. It is my duty to go in the nmine to examine it and come
back and report. Remained about 2 hours. Was in the mine that morning on
the east side. Ixamined all the faces in the rooms. Carried asd Davy Lamp.
Was in rooms from 1 to 7 in 3rd south. Have seen gas in those rooms. Have
seen it in No. 3, south and No. 7 north. Saw but little, it would hardly
show in lamp. 1 réported it to the boss. Always examine all the places
eaéh morning. There is a difference in the examination. If the rocm shows
gas I_sfay longer that in rooms where it shows clear. We mark the rooms with
chalk. 1If dry the mark will stay two days, if wet it can hardly be marked
at all. Have four entries on eash side of the main east entry and begin in
the 3rd south, come through to the 4th south to the main east. Go from
there to the 4th north. Then back t0 3rd, from there to the 2nd north, from
there to the lst north. Have heard tight shots. Heard one last Wednesday.
W¥e examined to see if any men was killed. Two days before the eﬁplosion the
mine was sprinkled with a water box that left the wafer run out. Think it
has been sprinkled about four times since last September. I saw them wéter
the mineonce at room. It was about 4 weeks &ago.

John Funke.
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Thomas Potts, being duly sworn said: Am a miner, have worked about 30

reatg at it. Worked in No. 2 about 7 weeks. Was fire boss lately. Have been
m east side. Went down about 20 minutes to 5. Stayed in till half past

> ofclock in my side. Carried & safety lamp. Have found gas. Five mornings
;ogether I found gas sufticient in No. 11 on 4th south, west side, found
enbugh to fitg® the lamp at onee time. The first thing I did was mark it

m a shovel and vlace it in the room so that no men would enter till I came
»ack from reporting. I would then clear the ges from the room and when satis-
fied the room was clear, let the man go to work. Never was on east side with
1 safety lamp. There is more or less gas in the mines here. The gas always
lies at the top. That is where I find it. Do not think I found it in
langerous quantities. I tfied the lamp there, it showed about 9 inches of
zas. PFound it in horsebacks. ilever found gas where there was no horseback.

I do not travel through rooms that are abendoned. Have no way to travel
ﬁhrough them. They are closed up. I ceannot get into those rooms without
coming back into the meain entry. Ky opinion is that the gas could accumulate d
in those abandoned rooms. Have worked in mines that threw ofi gas. Have had
experience with safety lamps. Lest Wednesday me and John Funke were coming
out when a heavy shot was fired. John threw himself down and said Tom throw
yourself down, he thougnt there would be &n explosion. Thought it was in

4th south on the east side. ket men coming out, they were breathing like they
had inhaled afterdamp instead of vowder smoke. The mine is dry. They have
been watered on inside. Don't know anything abéut other side. They were
watered clear up to the 3rd north door ixn mein entry. The boss so instructed
me to clear out the gas in the room before anybody entered, the best I could,
I cleared it out with my coet.

Thomes Fotts.



-Bhe

James Rae, being duly sworn said: Was in Fo. 2 & week before the explo-
sion. Wepked in No. 2 about 5 weeks. Was in the lst and 2nd ﬁoith on 3atur-
day morning. As far as the 4th north is concerned that is where the force
of the explosion was. ias examining for gas. Saw several dead men. Found
7 dead men in 4th north. The second man we found,there was powder in the
keg unexploded. Found 2 man laying near where he had prepared his shot.
Found in the back entry, went through the rorosscut to the main entry, found
5 dead men. Exemined all the rooms in back entry, there had not been but
two shots in those that had been fired. We found 9 men the first night,

one was living but died soon. ¥We tried to get up the north entry, but
could not make it. We foundkone man in the crosscuit and one in mein east
entry. found & third of a keg of powder not eXp1odied. In the 1lst and 2nd
north we found a man alive and a boy, the maﬁ died in the blacksmith shop.
We found no gas there. The men seemed to be scared and left their buckets
and rowder boxes upon. As far as I can judge the explosion originated in

the 4th north. I do not know thaé there was any powder exvloded there.

James Rae,
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Harry Franklih, being duly sworn said: I am & coal miner. Work in No. 2
»f this company. On that day I was in 4th north east, came out between 3 and.
! o'clock. Have not been in since. Have been a miner for 7 years. Have not
yeen in the mine since. Think it was a tight sﬁot caused it. There were.
t in our emtry. Wilson's boys box stood between the two entries, where we
rent into the 4th north, and the 3rd north. Think there was two kegs in
three boxes. They were Miller's, Jones's and Smith's, they had boxes between
them. That is two men hed & box. There were three shots fired at noon in
our entry. Saw oune fired atternoon before I went out. Some will take the
stopper off the keg and othersopened them by leaving a hole in the'top with
their picks. Noticed the morning after one was burned, but hed never noticel
it before. %hen speaking to Wilson, he s&id that the roads would be sprinkled
now that those men were burned, and the next morning I saw thet the Sprinkling
had béen done. There Were'probably six rooms between where Smith's box stood
and where ours stood. I did not consider thebmine any more dangerous than
usual, but havé 1ot considered it very safe. ihen we cut through a horse-
back we found & little gas one time, it ignited, bui soon went out. Several
times I heard the remarks that some time we would all pe blowed up from the
explosion of those shots. Joseph Xeller was picked up in room Xo. lo at the
mouth of the entry, in sbout 16 yards from the boxes, on the 4th north east
side. He was much disfigured. Do not thinxk the explosion was caused by
powder exploding. Limb worked in the main east entry. Wwas driving entry in
the 4th nortk. I n2d no holes drilled for shots when I left. Iio shots had
been drilled on the back side before I ceame out. I do not xmo that there
were any shots iired that aftermoon. I cousidered it unsaie on account of
firing heavy tight shots. ZFor all the boys, except Xelier, I inow they were

practical men. Heve heard heavy ghots go off in 3rd north. The :ast break-
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through not quite completed, was about 13 feet wide and coal 3 feet high.
Frank Leigh was kznocked down by a shot, but do not know where it took
place. Never saw any ges, except in passing through a horse-back, and then
very little.

Harry Franklin.



George . Findlay, being dul- sworn said: I am inspector of mines in
this Stgte. Last Saturday morning I received a telegram about the explosion.
Immediately took the first train, came to Pittsburg, and drove over to Pront-
enac. Consulted with the man in charge, believed they were doing all they
could do for relief of vietims below. Understanding that bir. Craig, Gen.
Supt. would bB here in a short time on the train. I waited and he and I
at once repaired to the shaft. Again consulted with those in charge, satis-
fied myself that evefything was being done by them and those who had volunteered
many of whom, I kxnew to ve men of experience and ability. I xnow that all
was being done that was possiocle for human beings tc do for the relief of
those below. lir. Craig and I then went down, remeined there until the
relief committee héd been through west side, completing & tour of the mine.
iie then came up. On Tuesday, in connection with the committee approinted by
the Coroner and several other gentlemen, again last evening nyseli and a
number of other gentlemen, we again went down in the shaft; As I said before
on arriving &t the bottom discovered both cases, we went east on the msain
east entry to the face carrying séfety lamps on first visit, on second visit
we sent a guide ahead with one safety lamp. We following with naked lam?s.
We came pack to the 3rd south entry on east, then passing up to the face and
then examining each room. Passing on upp the 3rd south and returning on the
4th south examining each 2s regerds to shots. There was either 4 or 5 shots
fired in the rooms on that side, neither one of which is what is called a
tight shot or an overéharge, or ané'uncercharge& shot. Finding, however,
considerable evidence of an explosion. We came out in main east, passed
over into the 3rd north. We passed on into the 3rd north and found evidence
of considerable disturbance. Passed on out. The first evidence I saw was
what appeared to me to be the remnants of an exploded can of powder, with a
box with side blown out. We passed on up about 20 or 25 feet, I suppose to

a cross entry from 3rd to 4th north. There we discovered a lot of debris
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2 part of the track torn up, the roof seemingly blackened more than it had
been before and evidences of considerable disturbanee. There we paased

and investigated and went ahead some distance and discovered the remnants

of several powder boxes. At the same time finding several, what appeared to
be several powder kegs bursted by what appeared to be an explosion. At

same time observed more particulers in this lecality. The walls and any
projections of coal sticking out were all charred. Went up to the end
follewing it up 100 to 150 feet, this evidence of charred disappeared,

| seemingly as it got to the end it rebounded and came back and we could
again find the ribs charred. Upon & thorough investigation of those differ-
end coraners in 3rd and 4th north, we could not find where, but one shot had
been fired. Am not positive thet it was fired that evening, as it was a good
shot. Satisfying menvthat there were no tight shots fired either in 3rd or
4th north entries where 1 believe the explosion to have commenced. It seems
that the force of the explosion came from notth, blowing out the stoppings
into main entry, passing around to the head of the meain east, coming down
around on the south, spreading through more or less éll the rooms in 3rd

and 4th south entry. Also there was discovered in 3rd south what appeared
to be the remants of an exploded keg. The explosion sescmed to gather Tforce,
forcing itself through the stoppings to the main entrance, coming down through
there with considerable force until it came to bottom of sheft and going up
the shaft. It bounded once and bursted in the 1lst norta as well as 1st south
extending in the 1st north about. 100 feet. Iy opinion is as it entsred the
1st north it turned #mée west 1nto the return, forcing itself to the overcast
busting that, spréa&ing itself,perhaps in swreading on to the eir shaft. It
wes a very fortunate thing for those on the west that it did. The force of
the explosion in 1lst south was not as great as 3a 1t was 0n vthe north, yet
there being no men a2t work in there, we did not give it as thorough an exan-

ination as we did the 1lst north.
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To the best of my belief at this time the explosion originated either in
the crosscut oetwéen the &rd and 4th north entry, by the explosion of a quan-
tity of powder or in the 4th north entry, a distance of 23 feet from this
crosscut, to where the general disturbances, I referred to before had occurr-
ed. At this point I more fully believe the explosion started. My reasons
for it are: %hat et no other point in the mine cen I find any evidences that
would lead one to believe an explosion could have originated. How this or
by whom it could be started, I am unable at this time to say. I do not
think there was sufficient vowder there to cause such a terrible diéaster.
I believe there was other elements connected with it. A 1little more than
a year ago, .soon after I wes appointéd State lkiine Inspector of this State,
é you are aware, we were naving rumors of little explosions in different
places in our district. I at once relurned, if it was possible to get to
the bottom of it or find out the cuses. I visited this field every 30 or
60 days for momths, talking not only with pit bosses, suverintendents, but
the miners when I wemt through. A4About a year ago or better, being con-
vinced from all evidence I could obtein that there was not enough gas in
these mines to cause an explosion, yet they occurred. I made up my mingd,
whether right or wrong, that the coal dust had more to do with these explo-
sions than any other agency. Believing that, I at that time recom:ended
to the suverintendents of the dry mines that & system of Sprinklihg be
estoblished by which the dust would be laid in the mein and cross entries.
Believing that should’this system ve sdopted that while a slight explosion
might tae place in a room wnen 1t reached the main or cross entries its fire
would vanish, by ressosn of it heviag nothing to carry it on.After the Fleming
explogion last December, I was thoroughly conviﬁced of this fact and again
recommended to those in charge, 2 system of sorinkling the main and cross

entries should be esteblished.
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In September of last year while down in this field, I came over to see Hr.
?iiliamson, this mine Ho. 2 not haveing been in operation for a few months.

[ did not think at that time fully developed enough to require an inspection.
[ came again in December or January to have a talk with Mr. Williamson with
regard to the sprinkling of his mine. Atkthis time from the talk I had at
the office here with some miners mskim working in No. 2, and knowing the plan
1pon which this mine was opened, I was perfectly counvinced that this mine

vyas in perfect condition, so far as ventilation was concernéd and the only
fear I had in any way from my theory regarding coal dust exPlosions.A I came
1ere again while on a visit in this district during the spring for the pur-
sose of going dovnm the mine to see for myself. ZEither from =z shortage of
ars or some cause the mine was not in operation. I again talked with some
pinerg who worked in Fo. 2 and from eonversation with them, believed the

nine to be in good condition. Not dependiung euntirely upoﬁ this I got the
l1ames of some miners, not only in this but in other mines in this distriet
md vhen I returned to Topeka, I wrote to these unions asking them to inform
ne if there was any cause whatever for complaint of ény kind. If they heard
ing complaints not\only in this one mine but any in the distriet. If so they
7ould confer a great favor on me or to request any other miners or theif
friends to advise me of any compleint either by.themselves or all their
Efiends. In addition to that I t0ld ss medy as many miners that I was not
sresumptious enough or & big fool enmough to believe that in this large district
thet I could personally examine all of these mirtes or find out their defects.
that I expected to get my information from those who were in the mines every
lay and knew their general condition, when I was away a8 well as when I was
in this field. The last of September I was again in this field learning that
there had been a2 change in the superintendents of theée mines. I came over

to ses and get acguamnted with kr. Lawton, t0 have a talk with him about the
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same subject of dry dust, as I had had with Mr. Williamson. I at that time
met several miners here who worked in No. 2 and asked them with regard to
condition of the mine, and they unvariably pronounced it good. I have also
had;severai talks with Mr. Craig, Gen. Supt. 6f these mines, with regard

to the dust in these minesvwith & view of adopting some plan by waich and
throughAWich these numerous explosioﬁs could be avoided. I also in my
report recommended very strongly that a law be passed compelling the
sprinkling of all dry mines.

G. W. Findlay.



Robert Craig, recalled. I want to make & correction in my testi-
mony, as to the cause of the expldsion. It was not a tight or blown out
shot. Visited the mine last night and examined the place where the explo-
sion is supposed to have originated, anc think it was caused by a keg of
powder exploding and firing others. Vie went to the face of the main east
éntry and found two shots at the face ready to fire. Went into the 4th
soutﬁ and found the post on the west side of the entry to the 0ld door
broken in the middle, but still standing and blackened. Found two cars in
1st switch to 4th south that avpear to have been, one blown south against
the rib and one north with great force. Evefything allright &t face of
4th south. Came back through the 4th 3rd north and find but one shot
fired and no appearance of unusual distrurbance. LZxiended Entered 3rd
north passed omward until room No. 7 nasAreached. Here found a needel
in hole, but not fired. This room was said to have gas, out examined and
found none. In room 10, Wilson's son's room, nole here 3 feet 9 inches and
one oot in the solid, hole not charged;v At face of %rd north, no shots
fired. 1In second room from face, found young Wilson's box blown up and »
powder kég explodedR Reamins of & box of squibs snd & roll of cotton wick-
ing underneath. In the crosscut, were two cars, inside of one Was a vest
containing a watch in & coovper case. In 4th north, inside this switech
two shots in face of entry not fired. In last room in this entry are two
shots not fired. The flame appears to have stopped about 20 feet outside of
the face of 4th north, which is 60 feet inside last crosscut and 100 feet
from 2nd switch above mentioned. Just outside this switch in 4th north
and just at mouth of room 8, find 20 or 3 boxes 21l blown to pieces and powder
cans blown open and track torn up, as if there had been a sharp explosion o
powder here in the entry. In room 8, 4th north, shot not fired; and paper

blown into gob opposite mouth of this room. Room 7 shot changed but nothing
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Room 5 hole charged, but not fired. Room 4 has switch but was not working.
Box allright. 2m kegs of powder in the same not exploded. Room 3 not
working. At 1lst switch, rooﬁ 5, here are signs of paper and dirt blown
violently outward. The principle force of the explosion was along the main
entry and bottom of the shaft. It camé_from the notth along -the main entry.
Saw no signs oi fire on timbers of main entry, nor at the shaft, nor on

the timbers up the shaft.

Robert Craig.
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Frank H. Xomer, beingAduly sworn said: Have worked in No. 2 about
14 months. Ventilation is pretty good about the entries, and when the men
work sometimes good and then sometimes not so good. When the air is not
good, speak to the pit boss. A man working near me quif because I could
not get a break-through on account of horse-back. Got & crosscut soon as
it cbuld be driven. I worked in 2nd north, west side. \as in shaft’day of
explosion. I tired shots that night. Did not find the boy, knew he was
dead, end I came out. My boy was burned, some of the clothing burnéd. I
think I fired my shot after explosion. Did not hear the explosion. I

v

felt the explosion. Have seen some gas in the mine, not enough%, to cause
danger.
Frank H. Kromer.

Peter ilcDonald, being duly sworn said: Am a miner. %orked in No. 2
was checkweighman. When I morked the ventilation was pretty fair. Have
requested the boss severel times when break-throughs or crosscuts were
needed to mekxe them. I never quit complaining till I got air. Have seen
gas when going through har se-back. Have séen it in drill holes and it set
fire to it and burnmed it out. That was on two or three occasions vhile
cutting through horse-back in mein of coal. Never discovered it in danger-
dus quantidies. Vas at work the day of the explosion. ias at the scale.
Could not sees the shaft from the weigh house. Cannot really say that I was
afraid in going down the sheft, but have been afraid when dovn from fear of
explosions from firing of tight shots at firing time, by inexperienced
miners. Have not been in tvhe mine since the bth of Oct. &lweys cut my
coal to save'powder. Think &1l practicel miners always do.

Peter licDonald.
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J. Gradee, being duly sworn says: I am a coal miner. Worked in No.
2 about 14 months. Ventilation is pretty»good, except in some cases, on
account of not having break-thvoughs. Have worked 50 feet from the air.
Worked there 10 days once and got us air because we could not get & break-
through. Found gas in east entry, fihd'gas then, burned it out. When the
gas burned out I had to g0 pack and put squib in. I quit No. 2 because I
got burned and was afraid. Did not tell the pit boss. I was afraid of
gas.and powder. Quit because I got burned.

J. Gradee.
Chris Schrodenberg, being duly sworn said: Am & coal miner. Worked

gbout 26 years in coal mines. Worked in No. 2,18 months . Worked on
east side first éouth, é months. Air sometimes is bad. Spoke to the boss
and he fixed it. In my place the sir always right. Was burned about the
face and arm by gas. Lit it with my 1amp. Find the gas inside the horse-
backs. Some places a little bit some p}gces stronger.

Chris%;gehrodenberg.

mark,

L. Herbin, being duly sworn said: worked in No. 2 seven or eight
months. The air is -retty good in the mine, sometime on the other side of
the break-through there is bad sir. Found ges in the mine. Lost of it
close to the horseback. Never sqw any in the room. The air in the room
wes bad outside of the break-through. Two days before the explosion I was
burned and quit and took my tools out. Wes burned when they fired the shot.
In the 3rd south in the main entry on east side, told the boss ¥y I quit
and he laughed at me and said I was not a good soldier.

X. Herbin.

Robert Baird, being duly sworn said. Was in the mine yesterday. went

with the examining committee. As far as the 3rd north end 3rd and «th

south. Cannot tell whether there was &ny powder exploded there.
Robert Bgird.



Dated
12/1916

#2 Cherokee Mine



IN ANSWERING REFER TO No

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

BUREAU OF MINES
Mine Rescue Station, Pittsburg, Kansas.

Decenmber 12, 1916.

My dear Dr. Rutledge:

I am transmitting you herewith coroner's
report on explosion at Frontenac, Kansas, year 1888. This
report is given the Bureau through the courtesy of Mr. Pel-
legrinos Afier photostating , kindly return the original
to me along with two copies, namely one for Mr. Pellegrinc's
personal file and one for the Station files.

Mr . Davies still lives in Frontenac,

Kansus.
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December 29, 1916.

Dear ¥r, Rice,

Mr. Forbes secargs the Joronerts report on explosion st
Frontencc, Kansas, in 1688, through ive Pellogrine, Havs modo
ahstracie of portlons of the testimony of & mumber of the witnosses

gony norswliia
wha, 88 yvou will note, were mostiy old’ r’ﬁi'nai"ié‘f Their testibony
is interéesting ip showing their knowledge of the effect of coal
dugt 30 years 2s0.. W¥o have not returumed the oviginel report ce
yet, aui if you think you would esre to 1ook over uore details of
it will hold it until you are here next, or will send it to you
in Zeshington, |

Plepga advige.

Yours wery truly,



